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The Cornell Farmhouse, portions of which date to about 1750, 
is a rare eighteenth and nineteenth century survival in urban Queens 
County. It doubled in size during the second quarter of the nine­
teenth century and was again altered and expanded in the late 
nineteenth century. It is situated on seven acres of open farmland. 
The original outbuildings were demolished around 1930 shortly after 
the state acquired the property and replaced the buildings with 
modern frame barns and garages and erected several greenhouses with 
a potting shed (see site plan). The site also contains an orchard 
of about fifty trees.

Set on level land, the five-bay, wood frame, one and one-half 
story house with high gable roof is surrounded on three sides by a 
one-story porch. The roof line of the facade is broken by an off 
center dormer of twentieth-century date.

The Cornell (Creedmore) Farmhouse as seen today includes a series 
of additions which were made over a period of years to the Dutch 
farmhouse of c. 1750 (see floor plan). An eastern portion was added 
to the original house in about 1840 in a Greek Revival style, identi­
fiable mainly on the interior. In 1890 a wing was added to the north and J 
in about 1885 porches were constructed on the east and south sides 
with a porch extension along the west side after the turn of the century.

As seen from the south, the most significant element of the house 
is a wood-columned porch which extends the entire width of the front 
and along both sides. Above the porch is a series of fascia-type low 
windows set just below the eave. In the western portion these probably 
replaced a projected or spring eav^ which, judging from the north 
elevation of this portion of the house, must have once been a notable 
feature on the south side.

,1'
The pitched roof with rather high gables at each end maintains a 

continuous ridge from end to end. The dormer window at the south 
was a later addition. The porch is the most conspicuous feature at 
each end of the house; four windows are placed above it at the west.

The north wing is set behind the Greek Revival portion of the 
house revealing the original spring eavo of the old portion of the 
house to the west of it as well as twelve-over-twelve window sash 
and original shingles exposed about twelve inches to the weather 
and secured by hand-wrought nails. A portion of this old shingle 
facing is also exposed on the south side to the right of the front 
door. Two original windows iu the north wall, complete with heavy 
muntined sash, follow the Dutch pattern of placing their tops right 
up against the second story floor boards.

O'?
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Transitional features of the house that would confirm a circa 
1750 date for the original structure are the two room deep plan, , 
and the inset back-to-back fireplaces of English type, rather than the 
traditional Dutch "jambless" form. It is thus related to the 
mid-eighteenth century enlargement of the Nassau County Schenck house 
where back-to-back fireplaces were also used. Another transitional 
feature is the concealment of the wall posts on the interior under 
lath and plaster, whereas in earlier work the faces of the posts were 
left exposed.

The Cornell Farmhouse is now an operating farmhouse museum and 
is in the process of being restored. The northwest room in the main 
part of the house has been restored to its circa 1750 appearance. 
Restoration is in various stages in other rooms of the house.
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The Cornell Farmhouse and its surrounding acres of farmland is 
a unique survival not only in Queens County, but in all of New York 
City. This is the last large farm in the city. It would appear that 
at the present time there are only five other eighteenth-century 
(or earlier) structures (residences) remaining in Queens, and of 
them the Cornell house is the only one which still retains its 
original farmland as well as possibly the greatest amount of original 
architectural fabric. Of the fifty-two acres which surround the farm­
house, seven are being nominated. They comprise the land designated 
by New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission and include a 
greenhouse, seedbeds, and an orchard.

Mid-eighteenth century records indicate that the land on which the 
house stands belonged to Samuel Cornell. It was inherited by his 
daughters Elizabeth Hicks and Mary Hicks Seering, and by his grandson 
Samuel Hicks after his death in 1796. The size of the original house, 
only two rooms, suggests that it may have been built for one of 
Samuel Cornell's daughters following her marriage, or it could have 
been used as a tenant house on the family farm. In his will Samuel 
Cornell leaves the use of his "dwelling house" to his wife Hannah and 
his daughter Mary Searing; however, to his daughter Elizabeth he leaves 
"that part of my lands where she now lives with the house...." It 
is a reasonable assumption that this refers to this early farmhouse 
especially since Elizabeth was married in 1758 .to Edward Hicks, and 
physical evidence indicates that the house is of about this date. The 
Cornell's are one of New York's earliest and most illustrious families. 
Thomas Cornell, the founder of the family, came to Boston from County 
Essex, England, about 1638. His son Richard settled in Flushing about 
1655, and later, also in Far Rockaway where the Richard Cornell 
Graveyard is a designated New York City Landmark. The Samuel Cornell 
who is associated with the farmhouse at Creedmoor is Richard's great 
grandson.

John Benham, a farmer, moved from Flatbush, Brooklyn to the farm 
about 1810. He apparently was a devout churchman at the Dutch 
Reformed Church at Success (Nassau County) where he was an elder. In 
1812, he took out a large mortgage on the property which then consisted 
of one hundred and ten acres, but subsequently was not able to make 
a success of the farm causing his mortgage to be foreclosed in 1822.
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A land speculator, Daniel Lent, bought the property from Benham's 
creditors but presumably did not live on the farm. In 1833, the 
farm was sold to Peter Cox who farmed the land until his death in 
1870. At that time, his son Henry took over the farm where he 
raised horses presumably in conjunction with a livery stable which 
he and his brother ran in Brooklyn. The farm passed through several 
other hands before being purchased by New York State in 1926 for use 
as a State Farm in connection with Creedmoor State (mental)
Hospital. The land was worked until 1960 when it was allowed to 
remain idle. The house and grounds are significant to an area that 
has so few buildings left of any great age. Most of the county con­
sists of tracts of garden apartments and detached or semi-detached 
houses built mostly from 1920 to 1950.

Although no testing has been done, it is thought that 
archeological remains may be present. The seven-acre site was judged 
to encompass an appropriate setting for the farmhouse and would 
include the sites of the original four outbuildings.

The Cornell Farmhouse reflects both Dutch and New Ehgland design 
antecedents. The house is important for the evidence it retains 
of craft and construction techniques as they were developed during 
the eighteenth century on western Long Island. Despite its 
alterations, the Cornell Farmhouse has substantial research potential 
for students of eighteenth-century vernacular architecture. Besides 
its framing and format, the house contains much early detailing 
such as door surrounds, wall paneling (over the parlor fireplace), 
and early doors. The structure is a rare survivor from the 
eighteenth—century history of Queens and an important early 
example of the vernacular architecture in the eastern Long Island 
region. The house is currently run as a farm museum and is being 
restored by the Colonial Farmhouse Restoration Society of Bellerose.
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